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The Julius 0 . Wilhelm House is a circa-1875 farmhouse, likely constructed by Kerlita or Hiram Coleman, located in a hilly, 
sparsely wooded area on the northwest side of Avilton-Lonaconing Road , approximately one-half mile northwest of Lancaster Hill 
and Frostburg Roads in Garrett County. The house sits close to the road and faces southwest. Modem outbuildings associated with 
the dwelling are situated to the southeast on the north and south sides of Avilton-Lonaconing Road. 

Dwelling (Circa 1875) 
The Julius 0. Wilhelm House is a two-story wood-frame vernacular dwelling constructed circa 1875 upon a cut stone foundation 
that is partially exposed on the southeast elevation. The house is clad in vinyl siding and capped with a front gable roof covered in 
asphalt shingles. The fas;ade features a one-story hipped roof porch resting on a concrete block foundation and supported by square 
posts. Several additions are appended to the main block of the dwelling, including a two-story gable roof addition on the southeast 
elevation, a one-and-a-half-story gable roof addition on the northwest elevation, and a one-story shed roof addition appended to the 
northeast elevation of that addition . The southeast addition features a partially enclosed full-width porch resting upon a concrete 
block foundation , covered with a shed roof porch, and supported by decorative metal supports. Fenestration consists of one-over-
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one double-hung vinyl sash replacement windows, fixed windows, and a tripartite window unit on the southeastern addition 
enclosed porch. Some window openings have been completely or partially covered with vinyl siding. 

The dwelling stands in good condition, but has undergone several major alterations. According to photographs from a 1981 survey, 
The Julius 0 . Wilhelm House once featured an interior stone chimney in the northwest slope of the roof. This chimney and a 
concrete block chimney in the northwest addition have since been removed. In addition, the original two-over-two double-hung 
wood sash windows have been replaced with vinyl windows, the original weatherboard cladding has been replaced with vinyl 
siding, and the bulkhead of a storm cellar on the northwest elevation has been removed. The residence has also been converted into 
apartment units. 
A modem shed roof shed clad in standing-seam metal is located to the southeast of the dwelling. 

History and Significance 

The first Europeans began to arrive in the area around Avilton, Maryland in the mid-eighteenth century. There is little record of 
those who settled in the area first, as they did not file patents or commission surveys, but built cabins and cleared small portions of 
land. However, after the Revolutionary War development in the area greatly expanded. The forests that covered the mountains 
were slowly but surely cleared. Pine forests largely made up the land between Savage and Negro Mountains, with a few other 
varieties like spruce and hemlock intermixed (Brown 1896:54). These large wood-covered miles attracted many hunters to the 
area, including Meshach Browning, who wrote a book about the many years he spent living as a pioneer in the area around A vilton 
and directly west. Hunters like Browning who populated the area used the National Road, which was constructed through the area 
in the early nineteenth century, to get their hides and meats back to eastern markets (Browning 1942: 195). While the hunters 
settled early, it was not long before additional lots were readied for settlement. Many of the earliest lots in the area were surveyed 
for veterans of the Revolutionary War. Some of these lots went to men like Thomas Johnson, who eventually became Governor of 
Maryland. There were also land speculators who made their mark on the area, including men like Brooke Beall and William 
Deakins (Rowland 2009:39). 

The earliest land records of the area typically consist of people with large tracts of land selling those tracts to other speculators. 
But, starting in the mid-1800s that began to change, as smaller portions of land were sold off, and more and more farms were 
raised in the valleys between the mountains . As land was freshly cleared, many farmers from east of the Appalachians began to 
plant tobacco. However, they learned quickly that the soil was made too poor by tobacco farming in this area (Brown 1896:300). 
The settlement that would later become Avilton was originally known as "The McKenzie Settlement" for the many numbers of 
Scottish immigrants, particularly McKenzies, who settled there. The early farmers of this area grew primarily wheat, rye, oats and 
potatoes. A partial listing of the founding families of this area was included in Garrett County: A History of Maryland ' s Tableland 
and includes: Garlitz, Blocher, Wilhelm, Broadwater, Miller, Crowe and Merrill among others . By 1885, the area was known as 
Avilton, and a post office was opened under that name (Schlosnagle 1978:65). 

In the second half of the nineteenth century, railroads made their way through Garrett County, connecting the area like never 
before. As the railroads arrived, the many pine forests that surrounded area farms were looked at with a new sense of their value. 
While they had been used as a source of building materials for years, the forests were now logged and the timber was shipped to 
larger markets on the railroad. On Savage Mountain, it was the Juniata Lumber Company that took advantage of the fine timber of 
the area (Brown 1896:264,275). Increasingly, the agricultural area was dotted throughout by people who worked in the industry. 
As Jacob Brown described the area "she grew from a county of crude backwoods settlements and small self-sufficient farms to a 
county of coal towns, timber towns, resort towns, trade towns, and increasingly fertile fields and meadows (Brown 1896:304)." 
While the area was still largely rural , times were slowly changing. 
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By the first half of the twentieth century, more and more people were working both on their farms and in various industries. By the 
1940 Census, many household heads were listed as working in mining or timbering, while it is also indicated that many continued 
to pursue agriculture (Ancestry.com). While they produced goods for local markets, the demands of an increasingly connected 
society drew more and more residents off their farms . The effects of the great depression were also seen in the 1940 Census of the 
area, with many people listed as road builders or general laborers who were employed in emergency government work 
(Ancestry .com). After World War II, some farms began to not be used for agriculture. This has led to the decline of some of the 
properties, and the destruction of others. Many families, descendants of the original settlers at McKenzie Settlement, continue to 
use the fields around Avilton to raise cows and some grains, continuing some of the traditions that were started so many years ago. 

The Julius 0. Wilhelm House is located in Lonaconing, an agricultural community in Garrett County. The dwelling sits close to the 
road and faces southwest. The property was historically made up of two parcels. Parcel 1 contained approximately I 06 acres from 
Lot 5 of a tract known as "Walnut Hills." Parcel 2 contained approximately 54.375 acres from a tract known as "Lochiel." 
According to early deed references, it is likely that the present dwelling was constructed and currently stands within Parcel 1. 

The earliest deed reference for Parcel I is found in 1858, when William Robeson purchased Lot 5 and Lot 6 of the "Walnut Hills" 
tract from James Swan and Alexander C. and Mary Swan Good (Allegany County Deed Book 16:271 ; 17:282; 17:633). In 1862, 
William Robeson and his wife Rhoda sold I 06 acres of Lot 5 of the "Walnut Hills" tract to farmer Kerlita Coleman (Allegany 
County Deed Book 20: 159). In an 1869 deed conveying two-thirds interest in the property to Kerlita ' s wife Rebecca, the property 
included "three horses, two wagons, 7 head of cattle, 24 head of sheep, 24 head of hogs, a harness, plows, farming utensils, 
household and kitchen furniture, and 8000 feet of lumber" (Allegany County Deed Book 32:668). This suggests that a dwelling 
was present on the property by 1869, likely constructed by Kerlita Coleman. 

Kerlita Coleman was born in Maryland in 1810 to Jesse Coleman and Mary Clawson Varnum (National Society of the Sons of the 
American Revolution [NASAR] 1970). Kerlita Coleman worked as a farmer and in 1870, he and his wife, Rebecca Workman 
Coleman, lived and worked on the 106-acre property with four of their adult children (United States Census Bureau 1870). In 
1877, Kerlita and Rebecca Coleman declared insolvency, and the property was sold by a trustee to their son, Hiram Coleman 
(Garrett County Deed Book 3:403) . The 1877 deed also includes a reference to a water mill that once stood on the property. 
According to the 1880 United States Census, Kerlita, Rebecca, and Hiram all lived on the property, along with Hiram's wife 
Martha Broadwater Coleman (United States Census Bureau 1880). Hiram' s brother George, a shoemaker, also lived nearby. 
Kerlita Coleman died in 1885, and Rebecca Coleman died in 1886 (Find a Grave 2011 a; 2011 b). Both are buried in Robeson 
Cemetery. 

In 1891 , Hiram Coleman purchased Parcel 2, consisting of 54.375 acres of the "Lochiel" land tract, from the estate of Elias 
Weitzell (Garrett County Deed Book 19:20). Hiram and Martha Coleman conveyed both Parcels I and 2 to Thomas Carr in 1900 
(Garrett County Deed Book 39:12). At the time of the purchase, Thomas Carr was a 66-year-old Irish farmer and widow (United 
States Census Bureau 1900). Carr owned the property until his death in 1916, and bequeathed the property to Mary Ellen Price 
(Garrett County Will Book 8:555; Garrett County Deed Book 114: 199). The nature of Thomas Carr and Mary Ellen Price' s 
relationship is not clear, though she may have been his daughter or daughter-in-law. The 1910 United States Census identifies her 
as a widow and the daughter oflrish immigrants, and living with her son Robert Carr (United States Census Bureau 1910). In that 
year, Mary Price worked as a postmistress in Allegany County. According to the 1920 United States Census, despite owning the 
property, Mary Price continued to live in Allegany County with her daughter Mary Merbaugh and worked as a public school 
teacher (United States Census Bureau 1920). 

In October 1936, Julius 0 . Wilhelm and his brother Leonard Wilhelm purchased the property from Mary Ellen Price (Garrett 
County Deed Book 114: 199). According to the 1930 United States Census, Leonard Wilhelm and Julius Wilhelm were both 
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farmers , and they and their families lived together in the same household (United States Census Bureau 1930). In March 1936, 
Julius 0 . Wilhelm and his wife Pearl purchased a 170-acre property to the north (G-I-A-154), where they likely moved to with 
their family (Garrett County Deed Book 112:273). Leonard Wilhelm likely resided with his family on the property purchased from 
Mary Price. Leonard Wilhelm is listed in the 1940 United States Census as living on the property with his wife Mary and their ten 
children (United States Census Bureau 1940). In 1986, Julius 0 . Wilhelm conveyed his one-half interest in the property to Leonard 
Wilhelm (Garrett County Deed Book 467: 195). Leonard Wilhelm sold the property to his grandson Dwight David Wilhelm in 
2002 (Garrett County Deed Book 796:349). The deed referenced several exceptions, leaving a total of approximately 137 acres. 

NRHP Evaluation 

No information could be located that connects the Julius 0. Wilhelm House to significant events or themes in local , state, or 
national history. Therefore, this resource is recommended not eligible for NRHP listing under Criterion A. The dwelling is 
associated with the Coleman Family, including Kerlita Coleman and Hiram Coleman, who likely constructed the dwelling, and 
brothers Julius and Leonard Wilhelm. Local historical and genealogical sources provide no further information related to Coleman 
or Wilhelm families, or any other individuals associated with the property, and there is no evidence that any individuals associated 
with the property were significant in local, state, or national history. Therefore, this resource is recommended not eligible for 
NRHP listing under Criterion B. The Julius 0. Wilhelm House stands as a common and heavily altered example of rural vernacular 
architecture in western Maryland in the late nineteenth-century. The replacement of the original windows with modern vinyl 
windows, the addition of vinyl siding, the removal of the original chimney and bulkhead, and the partial enclosure of the side porch 
in particular diminish the resource ' s historical character and integrity. As such, the Julius 0. Wilhelm House is recommended not 
eligible for NRHP listing under Criterion C. Eligibility under Criterion D cannot be determined as the resource has not undergone 
archaeological testing. 
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G-I-A-158 

Julius O. Wilhelm House 
Avilton 
Private late 19th century 

The Julius O. Wilhelm frame farmhouse appears to have been constructed 
in three parts. The center part is a two story, two bay gable end facade 
structure. To the west is a single story, two bay by one bay structure with 
a gable roof. To the south is a two story, one bay by two bay gable roof 
section. The house rests on a stone foundation. The original weatherboard 
siding covers the center and west blocks with asphalt shingles on the 
south block. 

-- ---- ------------------------
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

This frame farmhouse is situated in a hilly, semi-wooded area on 
Avilton School Road approximately ~ mile northwest of the intersection 
with both Lancaster Hill Road and Frostburg Road. The house faces 
southwest. The house appears to have been constructed in three parts. 
The center part is a two story, two bay gable end facade structure. 
To the west is a single story, two bay by one bay structure with a gable 
roof. To the south is a two story, one bay by two bay gable roof section. 
A porch supported by plain square wooden posts and balustrades covers the 
two facade entrances on the west and center blocks. A single story shed 
addition, half enclosed, half porch, extends across the southeast elevation. 
Another single story shed addition runs along the rear, northeast elevation 
of the west block. Both these shed additions have entrances. 

An interior brick, cement covered chinmey is located on the center 
block, west side. A central cinderblock chinmey appears on the south block 
and an interior gable end cinderblock chinmey is located on the west 
block. Two over two sash windows liglt the house. The house rests on a 
stone foundation. The original weatherboard siding covers the center and 
west blocks with asphalt shingles on the south block. Asphalt shingles cover 
the roof. 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

This house, built in three parts, combines examples of common 
western Maryland type. Houses of this general configuration, with a 
rectangular mian block, were constructed in Garrett County from the 
late nineteenth through the early twentieth centuries. 
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